IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CP-02071-COA

JESSIE MONTRELL OLIVER

APPELLANT

FILED

APR 0 3 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

٧.

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

BY:

Jessie Montrell Oliver, #R9549

Mississippi State Penitentiary

Unit 29-A

Parchman, MS 38738

APR 0 7 2008

RECEIVED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CP-02071-COA

JESSIE MONTRELL OLIVER

APPELLANT

٧

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE

Appellant was denied due process law and subjected to a fundamental constitutional violation in sentencing where Appellant was sentenced to a term of 40 years for armed robbery, as a first-time felony offender, after being convicted of armed robbery for first time ever.

ISSUE TWO

The sentence imposed upon Oliver was disproportionate to the offense and excessive under the armed robbery statute since such sentence of 40 years exceeded petitioner's life expectancy. Such actions violated the 5th and 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution.

ISSUE THREE

Appellant Jessie Montrell Oliver received ineffective assistance of counsel before advising Oliver to enter a plea of guilty, in violation of the 6th and 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution as well as the Constitution of the State of Mississippi, where Oliver was denied his constitutional and statutory right to a speedy trial and

where defense counsel failed to give notice to his Oliver that he had a speedy trial violation.

ISSUE FOUR

The Court committed plain error by failure to include in the record, after having been sentenced pursuant to a guilty plea, by subjecting Jessie Montrell to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise Oliver of the right to a direct appeal of the imposed sentence to the Supreme Court.

ISSUE FIVE

Appellant was provided with ineffective assistance of counsel before trial where counsel:

- a) Failed to object base on speedy trial violation;
- b) Failed to summon adequate witnesses;
- c) Failed to perform pretrial investigation;
- d) Failed to conduct a proper and thorough investigation to talk to witnesses and locate tangible evidence for trial. Defense counsel failed to prepare for trial by being more focused on attempting to persuade Appellant to plead guilty during sentencing in regards to the length of sentence imposed upon a first time offender.

ISSUE SIX

Whether trial court erred in failing to allow the record to contain transcript of guilty plea colloquy in court proceedings and where claims contained issues of denial of due process during proceedings; where Appellant properly designated such records:

and where trial court indicated it had reviewed such records when Court rendered Order denying relief.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant is presently incarcerated and is being housed in the Mississippi State Penitentiary at Parchman, Mississippi, in service of a the prison term imposed with the assistance and support of the conviction and sentence under which he now attack in this case. Appellant has been continuously confined in regards to such sentence since date of conviction and imposition by the trial court.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Oliver was sentenced by the Circuit Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi, on October 30, 2006, to a total term of (30) thirty years imprisonment under Count I, Count II and Count III of the multiple count indictment filed in trial court. Oliver was also sentenced to 10 years of post release supervision, five years of reporting and five years of non-reporting.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 5, 2006, a five (5) count indictment was filed against Jessie Montrell Oliver in Desoto County Mississippi, charging the crime of conspiracy to commit armed robbery in Count 1 and armed robbery in Counts 2, 3, 4 and 5, which crimes were alleged to have occurred in Count 1 June 24, 2005, in violation of Section 91-1-1(a) and July 30, 2005; Count 2, June 24, 2005 in violation of Section 97-3-79; Count 3, July 24, 2005 in violation of Section 97-3-79, Count 4, July 30, 2005 in violation of Section 97-3-79 and Count 5, July 30, 2005 in violation of 97-3-7(2)(b) in Desoto County,

Mississippi. Such charges, with the exception of Count 1, were specifically filed pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-79.1

Appellant Oliver was represented by Honorable Vanessa Winkler-Brewer in such case and was convicted by entering a plea of guilty to Counts 2, 3 and 4 on October 6, 2006. Sentence was imposed upon defendant on the same date. The Sentence was imposed by the Judge of the Circuit Court.

Jessie Montrell Oliver was a first time offender with no previous convictions. The trial court imposed a sentence of 40 years, that is, on **Count 2**, to serve a term of ten (10) years; **Count 3**, to serve a term of ten (10) years with this sentence running consecutive to the sentence imposed in Count 2; **Count 4**, sentenced to a term of twenty (20) years to be served ten years incarceration, ten years post-release supervision, five of that reporting, five of that non-reporting; and, to run consecutive to the sentence imposed in Count 3 to be served in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

The trial Court failed to advised Jessie Oliver that he had the right to appeal any sentences imposed by the court.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals recently decided the case of <u>Towner v. State</u>, 837 So.2d 221 (Miss. 2003), which involved a sentence imposed upon a first time

¹ § 97-3-79. Robbery; use of deadly weapon.

Every person who shall feloniously take or attempt to take from the person or from the presence the personal property of another and against his will by violence to his person or by putting such person in fear of immediate injury to his person by the exhibition of a deadly weapon shall be guilty of robbery and, upon conviction, shall be imprisoned for life in the state penitentiary if the penalty is so fixed by the jury; and in cases where the jury fails to fix the penalty at imprisonment for life in the state penitentiary the court shall fix the penalty at imprisonment in the state penitentiary for any term not less than three (3) years.

offender, found that the maximum sentence should be reversed for a sentencing hearing in light of the defendant's first offender status.

That Appellant Oliver was not provided with a sentence proportionality analysis in this case before being sentenced to 40 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Additionally, the trial court imposed a combined sentence tantamount to a life sentence when the jury failed to impose a life sentence for armed robbery.

That prior to entering the pleas of guilty, Oliver's attorney, Vanessa Price, told Oliver that if he enter a plea of guilty, his girlfriend, Arrica Tawanda Jefferson (Susie) would be released. Oliver specifically told his attorney that he did not want to plead guilty, but he was pleading guilty because he wanted Arrica to get out because they had four children together and she needed to be at home to see after them.

Jessie Oliver's attorney also assured his mother, Geraldine P. Jefferson, that if Oliver and Arrica pleaded guilty, Arrica would be released so she could go home and take care of the children, but after Oliver and Arrica entered the guilty plea, Arrica was not released but was sentenced to five (5) years and she is not scheduled to be released until May 26, 2010.

That Attorney Vanessa Price represented Arrica Jefferson, Travis Oliver, and Jessie Oliver on the same case, but Jessie Oliver told his attorney he wanted to take his case to trial, however, Attorney Price did not want to take the case to trial, and used Arrica to coerce Jessie Oliver to enter a plea of guilty, by conveying to Jessie Oliver that if he pled guilty, Arrica would get out within the next two weeks if she would not be released on the date she and Jessie Oliver enter the plea of guilty.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's decision to deny a motion for post-conviction relief the standard of review is clear. The trial court's denial will not be reversed absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. <u>Kirksey v State</u>, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss. 1999).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE

Appellant was denied due process law and subjected to a fundamental constitutional violation in sentencing where Appellant was sentenced to a term of 40 years for armed robbery, as a first-time felony offender, after being convicted of armed robbery for first time ever.

and

ISSUE TWO

The sentence imposed upon Oliver was disproportionate to the offense and excessive under the armed robbery statute since such sentence of 40 years exceeded petitioner's life expectancy. Such actions violated the 5th and 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution.

Appellant Oliver alleges that by the court imposing a judgment of 40 years for armed robbery as a first time offender, and without considering his life span and/or without making a Sentencing Proportionality Analysis imposing sentence upon Oliver, due to the fact that without a jury, he should have been sentenced to less than a life sentence, denied him due process of law and equal protection of the law as afforded and guaranteed him under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States

Constitution. For argument sake, he relies on the following intervening decision of the Mississippi Court of Appeals:

i) Intervening Decision By the Court as Authority to Hear Claim

The Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi has recently decided a case which is supportive of this claim presented reference to a unduly harsh sentence being imposed upon a first time offender. In <u>Towner v. State</u>, 837 So.2d 221, 227 (Miss.App. 2003), the court found that "a sentence of 30 years incarceration, maximum allowable penalty, for a first time drug offender was an excessive sentence and required a sentence proportionality analysis.

The Towner court held the following:

"A court's proportionality analysis [of a sentence] under the Eighth Amendment should be guided by objective criteria, including (i) the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty; (ii) the sentences imposed on other criminals in the same jurisdiction; and (iii) the sentences imposed for commission of the same crime in other jurisdictions." Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 291, 103 S.Ct. 3001, 77 L.Ed.2d 637(1983) (writ of habeas corpus). This Court looks for guidance to the cases of White v. State, 742 So.2d 1126, 1135(¶ 32) (Miss.1999), and Davis v. State, 724 So.2d 342, 346(¶ 17) (Miss.1998), both of which involved the imposition of a maximum sentence of a first offender convicted of the sale of one rock of cocaine. In each case the Mississippi Supreme Court remanded for a review of the sentence. Although the amount of contraband sold by Towner was more than the amount at issue in White or Davis, the first time offender status is the same. However, due to the uniqueness of this particular case, that is, a first time offender was sentenced to the maximum sentence allowed by law, the trial judge acknowledges he may have been too harsh, and the prosecuting district attorney states he has no objection to a re-sentencing hearing. We hold that the case should be remanded for a review of the sentence.

Towner v. State, 837 So.2d 221, 227 (Miss.App. 2003)

Prior to the decision rendered in <u>Towner</u>, and at the time of the imposition of the sentence in this case, the law was simply that: As a general rule, a sentence that does not exceed the maximum period allowed by statute will not be disturbed on appeal. <u>Wallace v. State</u>, 607 So.2d 1184, 1188 (Miss. 1992). Generally, the imposition of a sentence is within the discretion of the trial court, and appellate courts will not review

the sentence, if it is within the limits prescribed by statute. Reynolds v. State, 585 So.2d 753, 756 (Miss. 1991).

Oliver had never been convicted of a felony offense until his conviction in this case. Oliver's felony free conviction record should have been taken under consideration when the sentence was imposed in this case. The trial court never considered such.

ii) Retroactive Application of Towner v. State 837 So.2d 221, 227 (Miss.App. 2003)

The Mississippi Supreme Court, In <u>Hall v. Hilbun</u>, 466 So. 2d 856, 875-76 (Miss. 1985) held that judicially enunciated rules of law are applied retroactively. The <u>Hall v.</u> Hilbun court held that:

It is a general rule that judicially enunciated rules of law are applied retroactively. Legislation applies prospectively only, and we are not thought to be in the business of legislating. Rather, our function is to decide cases justly in accordance with sound legal principles which of necessity must be formulated, articulated and applied consistent with the facts of the case.

Keyes v. Guy Bailey Homes, Inc., 439 So.2d 670 (Miss.1983), abolishing the requirement of privity of contract in home construction contracts applied retroactively; Tideway Oil Programs, Inc. v. Serio, 431 So.2d 454 (Miss.1983), providing that punitive damages may be recovered in chancery court was applied retroactively; McDaniel v. State, 356 So.2d 1151 (Miss.1978) overruling cases which allowed voluntary intoxication as a defense to a crime applied retroactively.

The general rule applied universally in this country in federal and state courts is simply put in Jones v. Thigpen, 741 F.2d 805 (5th Cir.1984).

"Judicial decisions ordinarily apply retroactively. See Robinson v. Neil, 409 U.S. 505, 507-08, 93 S.Ct. 876, 877-78, 35 L.Ed.2d 29 (1973). 'Indeed, a legal system based on precedent has a built-in presumption of retroactivity. Solem v. Stumes, --- U.S. ----, 104 S.Ct. 1338, 1341, 79 L.Ed.2d 579 (1984)." --741 F.2d at 810.

Even Pruett v. City of Rosedale, 421 So.2d 1046 (Miss.1982), was held to apply retroactively to that case.

We note that other states, when shedding the "locality rule", have done so in a routine manner by simply adopting the new rule and applying it in a normal (retroactive) fashion without fanfare. See Zills v. Brown, 382 So.2d 528, 532 (Ala.1980) applying this new rule retroactively in Drs. Lane, Bryant, Eubanks & Dulaney v. Otts, 412 So.2d 254, 256-8 (Ala.1982) and May v. Moore, 424 So.2d 596, 597-601 (Ala.1982); Jenkins v. Parrish, 627 P.2d 533, 537 n. 1 (Utah 1981) (rule to be applied retroactively); Orcutt v. Miller, 95 Nev. 408, 595 P.2d 1191, 1194-95 (1979) (new rule routinely applied); Ardoin v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co., 360 So.2d 1331, 1339 n. 22 (La.1978) (overruling Percle v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Co., 349 So.2d 1289, 1303 (La.Ct.App.1977), which had held abandonment of locality rule to be prospective

only); Bruni v. Tatsumi, 46 Ohio St.2d 127, 134-35, 346 N.E.2d 673, 679 (1976) (new rule routinely applied); Kronke v. Danielson, 108 Ariz. 400, 403, 499 P.2d 156, 159 (1972) (same); Wiggins v. Piver, 276 N.C. 134, 141, 171 S.E.2d 393, 397-98 (1970) (same); Naccarato v. Grob, 384 Mich. 248, 253-54, 180 N.W.2d 788, 791 (1970) (same); Brune v. Belinkoff, 354 Mass. 102, 108-09, 235 N.E.2d 793, 798 (1968) (same). Even when acknowledging the issue to be one of first impression, one court applied the new rule routinely with no hint of prospective-only application. Morrison v. MacNamara, 407 A.2d 555, 562 (D.C.1979).

Hall v. Hilbun, 466 So.2d 856 (Miss. 1985)

It is clear from Mississippi law that the <u>Towner</u> decision rendered by the Mississippi Court of Appeals, which is a representative of the Mississippi Court of Appeals, should be applied to the case at bar retroactively since this is judicially enunciated rule of law as opposed to Legislation.

iii) The Sentence Imposed in this Case, Without a Sentencing Proportionality Analysis is an Illegal Sentence under Rule Announced in Towner v. State, 837 So.2d 221, 227 (Miss.App. 2003)

In <u>Towner v. State</u>, 837 So.2d 221, 227 (Miss.App. 2003), the Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi firmly held that a first time offender convicted of a drug offense should be allowed a sentence proportionality hearing before being sentenced to the maximum sentence allowed by law.² As a matter of law, without considering any facts affiliated with this case Oliver is entitled to some relief based upon the <u>Towner</u> case. The Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi has found that the sentencing of a first offender, without a proportionality hearing, is an incorrect procedure. If such procedure was incorrect in <u>Towner</u>, it was incorrect in the sentencing of Jessie Montrell Oliver.

iv) Appellant was denied due process law and subjected to a fundamental constitutional violation in sentencing where Appellant

² While the Court held such rule of law in a first time drug offender case, Appellant would avert that first time offenders, no matter what the crime may be, should be entitled to a sentence proportionality analysis determination under this rule. Circuit Courts should not discriminate as to which first time offenders may be entitled to such analysis.

was sentenced to a total term of 40 years, as a first-time offender, after being convicted of conspiracy to commit—armed robbery and armed robbery and where sentence exceeded Petitioner's life expectancy and was an excessive sentence for armed robbery unless imposed by a jury. Trial court failed to apply a proportionality analysis.

As stated above, Jessie Montrell Oliver was a first time offender who was charged with armed robbery. A factual scenario which was similar to the case here was heard in <u>Towner v. State</u>, supra, where Towner was sentenced to 30 years under his first offender status, without the court making any type proportionality analysis. The same manner of sentencing happened to Jessie Montrell Oliver. In <u>Towner</u>, the case was remanded for a hearing on the proportionality of the sentence where <u>Towner</u> was subsequently sentenced to a term of 16 years. As a matter of law, and fundamental constitutional requirements, Oliver is entitled to the same relief of having his sentence remanded to the trial court for a proportionality hearing which Oliver never received before being sentenced to a term of 40 years for armed robbery, without a sentence proportionality analysis.

In Luckett v. State, supra, the court stated:

A defendant convicted under this statute may not be sentenced to life imprisonment unless the jury fixes the penalty at life imprisonment. In cases where the jury does not fix the penalty at life imprisonment, the judge must sentence the defendant to a definite term reasonably expected to be less than life. Lee v. State 322 So2d 751 (Miss. 1975);see also Cunningham v.State, 467 So.2d 902 (Miss. 1985). In fixing the sentence, the trial court should make a record of, and consider, the age and life expectancy of the defendant and any other pertinent facts which would aid in fixing a proper sentence.

In <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 372 So.2d 257, 259 (Miss. 1979), a case which was cited by the <u>Luckett</u> decision, this court stated following:

Defendant contends that the imposition of a 75 year sentence is excessive under the statute, and the sentence amounts to cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Constitutions of the United States and the State of Mississippi. We reject the argument that the sentence constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Constitutions, but hold that the sentence is

excessive because it is for a longer period of time than permitted by statute. We have conflicting decisions on the latter question. See Lee v. State, 322 So.2d 751 (Miss. 1975), and McAdory v. State, 354 So.2d 263 (Miss.1978). In Lee, the defendant was convicted of forcible rape and sentenced to life imprisonment. We affirm the conviction but remanded for imposition of proper sentence and stated: The appellant next contends the sentence of life imprisonment by the court was beyond the limits of Mississippi Code Annotated section 97-3-65 (Supp.1974). With regard to punishment it states; "... upon conviction shall be imprisoned for life in the state penitentiary if the jury by its verdict so prescribes; and in cases where the jury fails to fix the penalty at life imprisonment the court shall fix the penalty at imprisonment in the state penitentiary for any term as the court, in its discretion, may determine." With this contention we agree. The jury returned a verdict of guilty. It did not fix the penalty at life imprisonment in the penitentiary thereby, in accord with the statute, leaving the question of sentence within the court's discretion. The issue presented is whether a trial judge under this section may impose a sentence of life when the jury has "failed" to do so. We think not. In Bullock v. Harpole, 233 Miss. 486, 102 So.2d 687 (1958). we had this to say concerning a similar statute: "It can be readily seen, as stated in the Dickerson case, Supra (Dickerson v. State, 202 Miss. 804, 32 So.2d 881), that the statutes place the death sentence within the sole province of the jury, and no such sentence can be imposed by any judge unless he has the authority of the jury therefor." (233 Miss. at 494, 102 So.2d at 690.) The statute before us places the imposition of a life sentence within the sole province of the jury and, in our opinion, no such sentence can be imposed by a judge unless he has the authority from the jury so to do. The statute presupposes, absent a jury recommendation of life imprisonment, that the judge will sentence the defendant to a definite term reasonably expected to be less than life. We therefore affirm and remand for proper sentence.

Here the trial court has imposed a sentence upon Oliver which, as a matter of law, is excessive.

The court should find that the sentence of 40 years imposed upon Oliver, at the age of 27, was an excessive sentence when combined with Oliver's age (total of 67 years) at the time of sentencing exceeded his life expectancy of 50.5 years. The court specifically asked Oliver, "do you understand that on each of your three counts the maximum penalty is life in prison if set by a jury, and anything less than life as set by this Court, and a \$10,000-dollar fine?" And, Oliver answered the court by saying, "yes, sir. TR 18. Therefore, Oliver was expecting to receive sentences totaling less than life if sentenced by the court. The said sentence was arbitrary and conspicuous without prior notice, which is a violation of his due process of law rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment of the U. S. Constitution.

Oliver's illegal Judgment should be vacated for resentencing to a term of sentence less than life.

ISSUE THREE

Appellant Jessie Montrell Oliver received ineffective assistance of counsel before advising Oliver to enter a plea of guilty, in violation of the 6th and 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution as well as the Constitution of the State of Mississippi, where Oliver was denied his constitutional and statutory right to a speedy trial and where defense counsel failed to give notice to his Oliver that he had a speedy trial violation.

Speedy Trial.

Jessie Montrell Oliver was charged and arrested for the crimes, which he stands convicted of by entering a plea of guilty for on or about April 05, 2006. The record indicates that Oliver was locked up for a total of 432 days while awaiting trial in this cause. See TR 25. The record does not indicate that Oliver waived his speedy trial rights. Even Oliver's counsel was ineffective for failure to advise Oliver of his speedy trial rights before advising him to enter a plea of guilty. The speedy trial clock, from a constitutional standpoint, commenced to tick on that day. Beavers v. State, 498 So.2d 788 (Miss. 1998).

In Beavers, the court stated the following.

> [1] Our first question is ascertainment of the point in time when the speedy trial clock began to run against the prosecution. Generally speaking, the starting point appears to be that moment when the defendant is first effectively accused of the offense. > Perry v. State, 419 So.2d 194, 198 (Miss.1982). Compare > Page v. State, 495 So.2d 436, 439 (Miss.1986). We have cases treating as this point of accusation the time of indictment and, in cases where the accused is already incarcerated, the point in time when a detainer was lodged against him. > Bailey v. State, 463 So.2d 1059, 1062 (Miss.1985); > Perry v. State, 419 So.2d at 198. Our two most recent pronouncements on the subject held the time of arrest to be the time of accusation. > (FN2) > Lightsey v. State, 493 So.2d 375,

378 (Miss.1986); > Burgess v. State, 473 So.2d 432, 433 (Miss.1985). One's right to a speedy trial as a matter of common sense has reference to that point in time when the prosecution may begin to crank up the machinery of the criminal justice process. It also has reference to the criminal act with which the accused is charged, for that is the event the truth of which must ultimately be probed in open court. The present record reflects that this point in time occurred on March 23, 1982, the date Beavers was arrested, and charged with burglary. Whether Beavers' right to a speedy trial was respected must be determined by reference to that date. > Lightsey v. State, 493 So.2d at 378.

Beaver v. State, 498 So.2d at 789-790. Also see Moore v. State, 837 So.2d 794 (Miss. 2003).

The indictment was filed against Oliver on April 5, 2006. Oliver was arraigned on the indictment on October 30, 2006, and all proceedings was filed on or about February 2007. TR 1

We have already established that Oliver's "constitutional right" to speedy trail accrued at the time he was arrested. The statutory right to speedy trial, being a separate matter, attached from the date of assignment. Riley v. State, So.2d Miss. App. 2003) (2003 WL 1818156).

In the instant case, it is clear that Oliver suffered a violation of his "constitutional right" to a speedy trial since there was a delay of longer than 270 days between the date of arrest and the date he actually came to trial. There is no motion for continuance filed by Oliver and counsel made no objections at trial. Clearly counsel was ineffective before trial or during the guilty plea colloquy proceedings.

This Court should find that Oliver suffered a violation of his constitutional right to speedy trial and that counsel was ineffective in failing to raise this issue before or during the guilty plea proceedings.

In the case <u>Miller v. State</u>, 2005-KA-00566-S.Ct(Miss. 5-17-2007) the appeal court stated as following:

I. DENIAL OF A SPEEDY TRIAL.

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