IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JESSIE MONTRELL OLIVER

FILED JUL - 7 2008 Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-CP-2071

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: **DEIRDRE MCCRORY**

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL **POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220** TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April 2006, a grand jury empaneled in the Circuit Court of Desoto County returned an indictment charging Jessie Montrell Oliver with one count of conspiracy to commit armed robbery (Count 1), three counts of armed robbery (Counts 2, 3 and 4), and one count of aggravated assault (Count 5). (C.P.43-45) On October 30, 2006, Oliver entered a plea of guilty to Counts 2, 3 and 4 and was sentenced to ten years' imprisonment on each conviction. (C.P.46-55) Counts 1 and 5 were remanded.

On September 26, 2007, Oliver filed in the Circuit Court a Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief. (C.P.6) Having reviewed all of the pertinent pleadings and court files, the circuit court found that the motion was plainly without merit and dismissed it summarily. (C.P.56-60) Aggrieved by the judgment rendered against him, Oliver has perfected an appeal to this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The circuit court did not err in summarily dismissing Oliver's challenge to his sentence. The court correctly concluded that the the rule prohibiting a sentence in excess of the defendant's life expectancy applies only to the armed robbery in the case *sub judice*, and not the aggregate sentence. Moreover, Oliver failed to make a threshold showing that his sentence was constitutionally disproportionate.

Nor did the court err in summarily dismissing Oliver's challenge to the effectiveness of his counsel. This claim was belied by Oliver's testimony under oath in his petition to plead guilty and at the plea colloquy. It also was supported by no affidavit other than his own. Under these circumstances, no hearing was required.

Furthermore, the court correctly concluded that it had no obligation to advise Oliver that he had the right to appeal an allegedly illegal sentence imposed as the result of a guilty plea. No error has been shown in this determination.

Finally, the record does contain a transcript of the plea colloquy. Oliver's final proposition plainly lacks merit.

PROPOSITION ONE:

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUMMARILY DISMISSING OLIVER'S CHALLENGE TO HIS SENTENCE

Under his claims 1. and 2., Oliver contended that his sentence violated his right to due process because he was sentenced to a term of 40 years as a first offender absent a proportionality analysis, and that the sentence was excessive because it exceeded his life expectancy. In determining that these claims were facially devoid of merit, the circuit court made the following findings and conclusions:

The court sentenced Oliver to ten (10) years to serve in the Mississippi Department of Corrections ("MDOC") in Count 2, ten (10) years to serve in MDOC in Count 3 which was consecutive to Count 2, and ten (10) years to serve in MDOC in Count 4 followed by ten (10) years or post-release supervision ... with this sentence to run consecutive to Count 3 and Count 2. In essence, Oliver got a thirty (30) year sentence to serve without parole.

First of all, Oliver was not a first-time offender. According to his petition. Oliver had previous convictions of possession of stolen property and burglary of a vehicle. He received three ten year sentences to serve followed by ten years of post-release supervision. In Erwin v. State, 557 So.2d 799 (Miss. 1990), the Mississippi Supreme Court said that each sentence is to be imposed without respect to the other and that those sentences, when imposed consecutively, could exceed the defendant's actuarial life expectancy. The Court of Appeals in Wash v. State, 807 So.2d 452, 458 (Miss.App.2001), discussing this issue and the Erwin case said that the rule prohibiting a sentence beyond the defendant's life expectancy applies only to the armed robbery in the case sub judice, and not the aggregate sentence. As the Court of Appeals said in Garner v. State, 864 So.2d 1005, 1009 (Miss.App.2004), that his sentences are to run consecutively rather than concurrently is one of the many hazards of committing multiple crimes.

(emphasis added) (C.P.56-57)

The court went on to observe that "when a sentence falls within a range permitted by statute then it will not be disturbed on appeal." (C.P. 57) *Willis v. State*, 911 So.2d 947, 951 (Miss.2005). In any case, Oliver had failed to make even a threshold showing of gross disproportionality in his sentences. Having cited *Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277 (1983), the court expressly found and concluded the following, in pertinent part:

All three factors must be presented by a defendant when determining the disproportionality of a sentence. Oliver has not really set forth any of the factors. The Mississippi Court of Appeals in *White v. State*, 919 SO2d 1029, 1035-36 (Midss.App.2005), said recently that the Supreme Court has

subsequently altered its interpretation of *Solem*. The Eighth Amendment does not contain a proportionality guarantee. [Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 951 (1991)] Severe penalties are not, by themselves, violative of the Eighth Amendment. Id. at 994-95. Before [they] will make such comparisons, [the defendant] must meet the threshold requirement of showing the sentence imposed is grossly disproportionate to the crime charged ... Unless [the defendant] satisfies this preliminary requirement, he is not entitled to the extended *Solem* comparison analysis.

(C.P.57-58)

The court concluded its analysis of this issue with the following:

The crime of armed robbery carries a maximum imprisonment penalty of life in prison. Miss Code Ann. § 97-3-79. See also *Womack v. State*, 827 So.2d 55 (Miss.App.2002) where the Court of Appeals found that a thirty year sentence and a ten year consecutive sentence for armed robberies was not disproportionate to the crimes committed. Even so, the recommended sentence was negotiated between the defense attorney and the District Attorney.

(emphasis added) (C.P.56-58)

The state submits the circuit court's findings and conclusions are factually and legally correct. Thus, the ruling is not subject to reversal. *Taylor v. State*, 766 So.2d 830, 832 (Miss.App.2000), citing *Kirksey v. State*, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss.1999). No basis exists for disturbing the court's well-reasoned conclusion, supported by dispositive case law, that Oliver's challenge to his sentence plainly lacked merit.

PROPOSITION TWO:

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUMMARILY DISMISSING OLIVER'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

In his motion for post-conviction collateral relief, Oliver contended additionally that he was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel because his attorney) failed to raise an alleged speedy trial violation and failed to summon adequate witnesses and to conduct a proper and thorough investigation. (C.P.3-4) The circuit court dismissed this claim with the following findings and conclusions:

Regarding the speedy trial allegations, with his entry of a guilty plea. Oliver waived speedy trial violations. See Rice v. State, 910 So.2d 1163, 1165 (Miss.App.2005). The crimes took place in June and July of 2005. Oliver was served with a copy of his indictment of April 20, 2006. Although there is no waiver of arraignment in the court file, a pretrial scheduling order indicating that Oliver had waived arraignment was filed on April 20, 2006 setting Oliver for trial on June 26, 2006. There were two orders to continue with the Defendant's counsel's approval. Eventually there was an order moving the last trial date up until November 13, 2006. Also, there is no indication when Oliver was first arrested. The time from the time he was served with the indictment and his plea was just over six months. All of the continuances were agreed to by his Therefore, there was no speedy trial violation. Regarding the allegations that the attorney failed to properly prepare, Oliver stated under oath that he was satisfied with his attorney and that he was not coerced into entering his pleas. Oliver provides no affidavits. Oliver has failed to demonstrate that his counsel's performance was deficient much less that any deficient performance prejudiced his defense. Oliver has not proved ineffective assistance of counsel based on the requirements of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) [parallel citations omitted]; and Moody v. State, 644 So.2d 451, 456 (Miss. 1994).

A thorough review of the court files, including the transcripts of the plea and sentencing hearings, reveals that it is undeniably clear that Oliver's sworn statements contained in Oliver's PCR motion are "overwhelmingly belied by

unimpeachable documentary evidence in the record", causing this Court to therefore conclude that Oliver's sworn statements are a "sham" and that no evidentiary hearing is required. See *Wright v. State*, 577 So.2d 387, 390 (Miss.1991). The Court, having reviewed the pleadings and both of the court files, finds that Oliver's allegations in his motion do not entitle him to any relief, his petition is motion merit and should be dismissed pursuant to MISS.CODE ANN. § 99-39-11(2), without benefit of a hearing.

(emphasis added) (C.P.58-59)

In his Petition to Enter Plea of Guilty, Oliver swore in pertinent part, "I believe that my lawyer is competent and has done all that anyone could do to counsel and assist me, and I am fully satisfied with the advice and help he has given me." (C.P.77) During the plea hearing, Oliver swore that he was satisfied with the services rendered by his lawyer; that his lawyer had been available to him; and that he had no complaint whatsoever about the quality of his representation. (T.21-22)

Thus, Oliver's challenge to the effectiveness of his counsel is is belied by unimpeachable documentary evidence. The complaint is also unsupported by affidavit. Under these circumstances, the court properly concluded that no hearing was required on this claim. *Buckhalter v. State*, 912 So.2d 159, 162 (Miss.App.2005); *Gable v. State*, 748 So.2d 703, 706 (Miss.1999). *Vielee v. State*, 653 So.2d 920, 922 (Miss.1995), citing *Brooks v. State*, 573 So.2d 1350, 1354 (Miss.1990).

PROPOSITION THREE:

THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT IT HAD NO OBLIGATION TO INFORM OLIVER OF HIS ABILITY TO APPEAL HIS SENTENCE

Oliver argued additionally that court violated his right to due process by failing to advise him of the right to appeal the sentence(s) resulting from his guilty plea. The circuit court found in its order that it had no such duty: "[T]he Court is under no obligation to explain to a defendant that if his sentence is illegal, he has the right to appeal it." (C.P.59) This conclusion is correct. *Elliott v. State*, _____ So.2d _____, 2008 WL 2098041 (Miss.App.2006-CP-02157, decided May 20, 2008). No error has been shown in the court's summary dismissal of this claim for relief.

PROPOSITION FOUR:

THE APPEAL RECORD INCLUDES A TRANSCRIPT OF THE PLEA HEARING

Oliver finally contends the circuit court "erred in failing to allow the record to contain transcript of guilty plea colloquy in court proceedings ... " (Brief for Appellant 4) The short and dispositive answer to this proposition is that the record does contain a transcript of the plea colloquy. (T.2-28) This proposition plainly lacks merit.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully submits the circuit court properly denied Oliver's motion for post-conviction collateral relief. The judgment entered below should be affirmed.